Air Force Institute of Technology AFIT Scholar

Theses and Dissertations

Student Graduate Works

3-2022

Efficiency Mapping and Determination of Reliability, Resiliency and Vulnerability of Atmospheric Water Generators in the United States

Erica F. Sadowski

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholar.afit.edu/etd

Part of the Environmental Engineering Commons, and the Water Resource Management Commons

Recommended Citation

Sadowski, Erica F., "Efficiency Mapping and Determination of Reliability, Resiliency and Vulnerability of Atmospheric Water Generators in the United States" (2022). *Theses and Dissertations*. 5422. https://scholar.afit.edu/etd/5422

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by the Student Graduate Works at AFIT Scholar. It has been accepted for inclusion in Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of AFIT Scholar. For more information, please contact richard.mansfield@afit.edu.



EFFICIENCY MAPPING AND DETERMINATION OF RELIABILITY, RESILIENCY AND VULNERABILITY OF ATMOSPHERIC WATER GENERATORS IN THE UNITED STATES

THESIS

Erica F. Sadowski, Captain, USAF

AFIT-ENV-MS-22-M-256

DEPARTMENT OF THE AIR FORCE AIR UNIVERSITY

AIR FORCE INSTITUTE OF TECHNOLOGY

Wright-Patterson Air Force Base, Ohio

DISTRIBUTION STATEMENT A. APPROVED FOR PUBLIC RELEASE; DISTRIBUTION UNLIMITED.

The views expressed in this thesis are those of the author and do not reflect the official policy or position of the United States Air Force, Department of Defense, or the United States Government. This material is declared a work of the U.S. Government and is not subject to copyright protection in the United States.

AFIT-ENV-MS-22-M-256

EFFICIENCY MAPPING AND DETERMINATION OF RELIABILITY, RESILIENCY AND VULNERABILITY OF ATMOSPHERIC WATER GENERATORS IN THE UNITED STATES

THESIS

Presented to the Faculty

Department of Systems Engineering and Management

Graduate School of Engineering and Management

Air Force Institute of Technology

Air University

Air Education and Training Command

In Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the

Degree of Master of Science in Engineering Management

Erica F. Sadowski, BS

Captain, USAF

March 2022

DISTRIBUTION STATEMENT A.

APPROVED FOR PUBLIC RELEASE; DISTRIBUTION UNLIMITED.

AFIT-ENV-MS-22-M-256

EFFICIENCY MAPPING AND DETERMINATION OF RELIABILITY, RESILIENCY AND VULNERABILITY OF ATMOSPHERIC WATER GENERATORS IN THE UNITED STATES

Erica F. Sadowski, BS

Captain, USAF

Committee Membership:

Dr. Christopher Chini Co-Chair

Dr. Eric Mbonimpa Co-Chair

Dr. Willie Harper Member

AFIT-ENV-MS-22-M-256

Abstract

Atmospheric Water Generators (AWG) extract water from the air using one of three available technologies: refrigeration, sorption, and fog harvesting. A refrigeration device works like a dehumidifier and works best in conditions above 60% relative humidity. A sorption device utilizes a desiccant to extract the water vapor from the air and works in very low humidity levels. A fog harvesting device utilizes a mesh to capture the water vapor from the air and requires 100% relative humidity. In this research, I analyze two refrigeration-based devices and one sorption-based device and their efficacy in providing supplemental water supply. An AWG can supply potable water to remote and austere locations where clean drinking water might otherwise be unavailable. With the increase in water scarcity on the global stage, new methods that can draw from an estimated 141.9E16 liters in the atmosphere using an AWG becomes important and, potentially, viable. However, due to climatological and technological constraints, not all regions in the world would see the same water production from an AWG as production is driven by high relative humidity and temperature. This climatological reliance also subjects them to dramatic changes in performance depending on the season. By using previously established hydrologic performance indicators and weather data for the United States, I determine the yearround efficiency metrics of the typical residential-sized refrigeration AWG. Using these efficiency metrics, I also determined the reliability, resiliency, and vulnerability of the AWG to produce potable water seasonally across the United States. By evaluating several different devices and mapping the efficiency on the country-scale, this research determines the regional efficacy in adopting AWG technology to supplement potable water supply. This study

5

was the first to look at the performance of atmospheric water generators with such granularity, as well as comparing specific devices predicted water production output to each other and over the years and calculating their Hashimoto's hydrological indicators.

Acknowledgments

I would like to express my sincere appreciation to my faculty advisors, Dr. Chini, and Dr. Mbonimpa, for their guidance and support throughout the course of this thesis effort. The insight and experience were certainly appreciated. I would, also, like to thank my dog Gryff for supporting me in this endeavor.

Erica F. Sadowski

Table of Contents

Abstract	5	
Table of Contents		
List of Figures11	1	
List of Tables13	3	
I. Introduction14	1	
1.1 General Issue14	1	
1.2 Problem Statement15	5	
1.3 Research Objectives15	5	
1.4 Implications17	7	
II. Literature Review	3	
2.1 Remote Water Purification Technology18	3	
2.1.1 Fog Harvesting)	
2.1.2 Sorption)	
2.1.3 Refrigeration)	
2.2 Devices Selected for the Study	1	
2.2.1 SOURCE	1	
2.2.2 Tsunami	3	
2.2.3 Residential	5	
2.3 Hydrologic Indicators27	7	
2.4 Application of the Technology	8	

III.	Methodology	30
	3.1 Chapter Overview	30
	3.2 Data Gathering	30
	3.2.1 AWG Performance Data	30
	3.2.2 Weather Data	31
	3.3 Model Building	32
	3.4 Model Assumptions and Validation	34
	3.5 Spatial Analysis	36
	3.6 Reliability/Resiliency/Vulnerability	38
	3.7 Case Studies	44
IV.	Results	46
	4.1 Model Building Results	46
	4.2 Model Validation Results	46
	4.3 Spatial Analysis Results	50
	4.4 Reliability/Resiliency/Vulnerability	54
	4.5 Case Studies/Results Across the years	60
V.	Discussion	62
	5.1 Results	62
	5.2 Similar Research	64
	5.3 Real World Applications of AWGs	65
	5.4 Recommendations for Future Research	67
VI.	Conclusion	68

Appendix A	70
Appendix B	76
Appendix C	
Bibliography	

List of Figures

Figure 1 - SOURCE Water Panel Picture and Water Production Chart [13]	22
Figure 2 - Tsunami Device Water Extraction Process [14]	23
Figure 3 - World Map detailing areas 15 degrees above and below the Equator	24
Figure 4 - Tsunami-500 Device Picture [14]2	25
Figure 5 - Residential Device Testing Set Up [4]2	26
Figure 6 - Reliability Visual	39
Figure 7 – Resiliency Visual	40
Figure 8 - Vulnerability Visual	42
Figure 9 - Map of Case Studies ²	45
Figure 10 - Residuals Plots ²	48
Figure 11 - Predicted Vs Observed Plots	49
Figure 12 - Residential Device IDW Raster	51
Figure 13 – Continental United States AWG Efficiency Raster Maps	53
Figure 14 - Hawaii AWG Efficiency Raster Maps	54
Figure 15 - Reliability Results	56
Figure 16 - Resiliency Results	57
Figure 17 - Vulnerability Results	59
Figure 18 - Metrics over the 35 Years	61
Figure 19 - Alaska AWG Efficiency Raster Maps	70
Figure 20 - Residential Sized device un-adjusted efficiency raster maps	71
	11

Figure 21 - Solar Energy (kWhr/m ²) from 1985-2019	. 72
Figure 22 - SOURCE Daily Efficiency Data for 2019 at Case Study Locations	. 73
Figure 23 - Tsunami Daily Efficiency Data for 2019 at Case Study Locations	. 74
Figure 24 - Residential Daily Efficiency data for 2019 at Case Study Locations	. 75
Figure 25 - SOURCE Linear Model Summary	. 76
Figure 26 - Tsunami Linear Model Summary	. 76
Figure 27 - Residential Linear Model Summary	. 77

List of Tables

Table 1 - Residential Device Test Enclosure Conditions [4]	. 26
Table 2 - Bare Base Water Usage [16]	. 29
Table 3 - Linear Model Test Results	. 47
Table 4 - Source Observed Values	. 78
Table 5 - Tsunami Observed Values	. 79
Table 6 - Residential Observed Values	. 81

EFFICIENCY MAPPING AND DETERMINATION OF RELIABILITY, RESILIENCY AND VULNERABILITY OF ATMOSPHERIC WATER GENERATORS IN THE UNITED STATES

I. Introduction

1.1 General Issue

Water is needed by every human for basic survival as well as hygiene. In many countries water is a very scarce resource. This can be due to the rural communities being far away from the more urban water sources, lack of government planning or lack of access to water [1]. An estimated 4 billion people face water scarcity at least one month in a year [2]. With water becoming increasingly scarce due to population increase and climate change, new technology that can provide potable water where it previously was not available is more important than ever. Atmospheric Water Generators (AWG) use one of three different methods to generate potable water from the air: fog harvesting, active refrigeration, and sorption [3]. Fog harvesting uses a mesh device to increase water condensation and requires 100% relative humidity [3]. Sorption uses a desiccant to separate the water vapor from the air, this method can be used in relative humidity levels as low as 20% [3]. The final method, and the most commercials used, is active refrigeration. A device that uses active refrigeration forces atmospheric water to condensate by cooling the air below the dew point temperature, this is the same process as a dehumidifier except an AWG also makes the water potable [4]. The atmosphere is filled with an estimated 12,800 trillion liters of water [4]. Conventional water sources are not always available, but the atmosphere always is. It makes it important to investigate this technology to potentially solve water scarcity in areas where other sources of water are not available. An AWG can also be combined with solar power generation making it a completely standalone system [1]. This research helps investigate the feasibility of the utility and reliability of AWG for potable water in the United States. The final product will lead a larger investigation that will determine the feasibility of using AWG at forward operating bases (FOB) and as a supplementary water supply in the event of natural disasters.

1.2 Problem Statement

How does Atmospheric Water Generator technology perform in the United States during the different seasons and how do different technologies compare? In remote locations or FOBs the Air Force relies on mobile ROWPU devices to provide potable water to their troops. Would AWGs perform better than ROWPU for the Air Force and other DoD organizations?

1.3 Research Objectives

The objective of this research was to create a model of the three selected AWG device's efficiencies utilizing GIS. This analysis shows what areas in the United States are most feasible for this technology's implementation. The model includes seasonal variations to show how efficient and reliable the devices are throughout the year.

I will create a GIS model of devices' efficiency and use the three different hydrological indicators to measure their performance utilizing 2019 weather data. The three hydrological indicators I will use are reliability, vulnerability, and resiliency as defined by Hashimoto [5]. Efficiency of a device is calculated by taking the output of the device at a given point and dividing it by the maximum device output per day. Reliability shows how often the device is in a successful state. Resiliency shows the probability of the device rebounding after a day of failure, defined as an efficiency percentage under 30. Vulnerability is defined as the daily maximum average liters of water deficiency from the failure threshold. Case study locations were chosen to showcase the results of these metrics for each device across all seasons. Additionally, the efficiency, reliability and resiliency of each device was investigated from 1985 – 2019 at the case study locations to investigate any discernible trends over time.

The technology for Atmospheric Water Generators has been available for several years, however, an investigation into their spatial and temporal performance in the United States has not been completed. Our research investigates three different AWGs using both an efficiency percentage and Hashimoto's three hydrologic indicators to compare their performances not only across the United States but also across time.

1.4 Implications

This research will explain the feasibility of AWG technology based on seasonal changes and varying climates. This data can also help show the technologies stability, or lack thereof, in areas where there are large seasonal changes. The devices chosen for this study are all mobile units, and they do not require any existing water infrastructure. This can be especially useful in rural and austere locations where there likely is not an existing water system. Often during the startup of FOBs bottled water is the only viable source of water. This is both expensive and not good for the environment. This research will aid in determining if using a type of AWG would be a feasible alternative to bottled water when a ROWPU is not viable.

II. Literature Review

2.1 Remote Water Purification Technology

In some areas the AWG can complement existing technologies such as ceramic pots. Ceramic pots are used in some remote locations, they are porous and take out most of the impurities that can be found in water; ceramic pots imbedded with silver are even more effective [6]. Another common system used in rural environments is a reverse osmosis (RO) system, however in small communities these systems can be poorly managed or have a lack of resources leading to pollutants being in the treated water [7]. With a reverse osmosis system also comes brine that requires proper disposal, at as much as a 1 to 1 ratio with usable water. This brine can have negative effects on the environment and surrounding wildlife depending on its properties. There has been research into creating more efficient RO systems such as one that recirculates water however at this point, they are still very impractical and expensive [8]. In some rural areas rainwater is captured to use as drinking water however this water still needs to be treated after being collected and it is heavily reliant on the weather [9]. Some areas in New Zealand utilize rainwater collections systems as their primary source of water and have a point of use filtration system. However, when a drought occurs this leads to a lack of water and the filtration system is not robust enough to make the water drinkable, so a separate water source must be used.

While atmospheric water harvesting technology has existed for over 20 years it has not been implemented on a large scale unlike some of the previously mentioned filtration systems [10].

This is largely in part to its current inefficiency and scalability concerns. In general, an atmospheric water generator system must meet a few criteria to be considered a viable solution, some of those include, affordable, scalable, and stable enough to provide a steady water amount year-round [10]. Based on the different technologies' reliability on the weather it seems the "year-round" criteria listed is the most difficult to meet. There are three different methods that AWGs can operate on, fog harvesting, sorption, and refrigeration. These methods are described in the following subsections.

2.1.1 Fog Harvesting

Fog harvesting typically utilizes a mesh device and requires 100% relative humidity to function [3]. The mesh is faced perpendicular to the predominant wind direction and, when the environment is foggy, the mesh traps the water droplets as the wind carries them [10]. The biggest issues with this method are its reliance on high humidity and the mesh's tendency to get clogged [10].

One example of use of this type of system are the cloud catchers in Lima, Peru. Their systems consist of 60 nets, each collecting around 200-300 liters of water per day providing water to around 250 families for free [11]. While these systems are not generally used for potable water, they are often used for agricultural purposes [11].

2.1.2 Sorption

The sorption method of atmospheric water harvesting utilizes a desiccant to separate the water vapor from the air [3]. This technology can be used in very low relative humidity levels and is typically used with solar energy. Therefore, it can function completely off the grid and is usually very mobile. However, the tradeoff for this mobility is that, out of the three methods, a single sorption based unit produces a much smaller quantity of water.

Li et al (2018) sorbent technology they created is in a form of hydrogel with deliquescent salt (i.e., CaCl2 in this work) embedded inside the hydrogel and the salt is responsible for atmospheric water vapor harvesting. The unit adsorbs water at night when the temperatures are lower and humidity is higher, and water is released from the hydrogel during the day using only solar energy [3].

2.1.3 Refrigeration

The most common method used for larger scale water supply needs is active refrigeration. It is typically deemed infeasible to utilize this method in environments that experience, on average, less than 40% relative humidity. This method also has a significant energy demand to function compared to the other two methods [3]. The refrigeration method works the same as a dehumidifier with the addition of an air filter and typically a treatment method after the water is collected [3]. In two different studies by Joshi et al [12] and Shourideh et al [1] the refrigeration method was evaluated based on the water production rate relative to environmental factors [12 &

20

1]. Those variables are the air flow velocity, the relative humidity, and the power supply, this shows that these are the focus areas when trying to improve the technology. Both studies found that by increasing the air flow the water yield can be increased and the higher the relative humidity the higher the water yield comparing at the same temperature. The draw back of increasing the air flow however is that it greatly increases the energy demand [12]. Two devices selected for this study use this method.

2.2 Devices Selected for the Study

The three devices selected for this study range in both maximum capacity as well as efficiency. The first device (SOURCE) utilizes the sorption method chosen due to its capacity to work without an electricity source because it has an integrated solar panel. The other two devices, Tsunami, and the residential device, use refrigeration the most common method for commercially available devices. These two devices were selected based on their available data and their varying sized capacity.

2.2.1 SOURCE

The following information in this section is from the SOURCE website and their tech sheet [13]. The SOURCE water panel collects water vapor from the air onto a hygroscopic material, then with the heat from the sun it converts the water vapor into a liquid. This water is stored in the panel itself until it is collected for use. Sensors in the panel monitor the water to maintain its quality.

21

A single panel is 4' x8' x 3'8" and weighs around 340 lbs. Its optimum operating conditions are from 1 to 55 degrees Celsius and from 10 to 100% relative humidity. Each panel can produce between 2 to 5 liters of water per day.

These panels can be mounted on a roof or on the ground and be used as a standalone system or can be connected to provide water straight to the facet. The amount of water supply can be scaled up by adding more panels to the system. Figure 1 shows the relationship between the relative humidity, solar energy, and the production of water per panel per day as well as a picture of the device. When placed in an array each panel needs to have at least 1.2 meters of space in front and behind, but it can be placed right next to each other on the sides.



Figure 1 - SOURCE Water Panel Picture and Water Production Chart [13]

2.2.2 Tsunami

The following information on the Tsunami AWG device was gathered from their website and from talking with their representatives. Water is pulled into the Tsunami unit using fans across a multi-layer filter that removes different airborne particles such as dust and pollen. The air is then forced through condensing coils (these work the same as those you would find in a dehumidifier) forcing the moisture in the air to form water droplets. This water is collected and purified through a filtration system removing any possible pollutants. Figure 2 shows this process.



Figure 2 - Tsunami Device Water Extraction Process [14]

The Tsunami company has several different sized devices, the one utilized in this research is the Tsunami-500 it is 42"x42"x90" and weighs 850 lbs. This device can produce up to 773 liters of water per day but only has the storage capacity for 114 liters. Just like the SOURCE panel it can be hooked into a water system to provide potable water to a specified fixture or tank.

Each device needs to have a 3-foot clearance around the perimeter and at least 15 feet of clearance above to function as efficiently as designed. As stated by the manufacturer this device works best between 15 degrees above and below the equator, as shown in Figure 3.



Figure 3 - World Map detailing areas 15 degrees above and below the Equator



Figure 4 - Tsunami-500 Device Picture [14]

2.2.3 Residential

The following information for the residential device was gather from an article written by Bagheri et al [1]. They investigated the performance indices of three residential devices in his paper, all the information in this section is from there.

Bagheri created an enclosure that can regulate both the temperature and relative humidity on. They took three unnamed residential sized devices, all with an optimum maximum output of 30 liters of water per day and tested them at the condition shown in Table 1. For this research the results from the first residential device were utilized.

Condition	T(°C)	Relative Humidity(%)
Warm and Humid	30	62
Mild and Humid	20	75
Cold and Humid	6	80
Warm and Dry	32	20
Mild and Dry	21	45
Cold and Dry	6	57
Mild	25	50

 Table 1 - Residential Device Test Enclosure Conditions [4]

The residential device works using the same method as the Tsunami device, the refrigeration method. A picture of the device hooked up to the unit that regulates the temperature and relative humidity can be seen in Figure 5.



Figure 5 - Residential Device Testing Set Up [4]

2.3 Hydrologic Indicators

As explained in the introduction, Hashimoto et al. [5] defines reliability, resiliency, and vulnerability indicators for water resources. These metrics will be used in this research to analyze the performance of three different AWGs. The reliability, vulnerability, and resilience metrics and their application are further discussed in the methodology

Hashimoto et al [5] states that all observations at any time period, t, can be separated into two categories, either a failure or a success. This concept is used to calculate all three metrics.

- Reliability is shown as the probability of a success during any given time period. Simply, for any given set of observations, reliability is the number of successes divided by the total number of observations.
- Resiliency describes how quickly a system will rebound after a failure. It is the probability of success given a failure in the previous time period.
- Vulnerability captures the magnitude of the failure. There are much different consequences in a system if it fails only by a marginal amount versus having a catastrophic failure.

While the efficiency of a device shows an average amount of water per day it does not capture all the needed information. Such as an atmospheric water generator producing only the exact amount of needed water per day meaning a single day of failure could be detrimental. Or the fact that while the average efficiency of one device might be 40% and another 50%, the one with

lower efficiency might be more consistent or reliable throughout the year while the other one is extremely variable depending on the season. A large number of days considered failing falling consecutively could lead to the device being unable to meet the water demand at that time. Depending on the device there is a rather large difference between failing by a marginal amount and reaching 0% efficiency in a day. The three hydrological indicators, reliability, resiliency, and vulnerability will help assess this AWG technology to prevent gaps in the final analysis of its performance in the United States.

2.4 Application of the Technology

The world health organization states that at least 13.2 gallons (~ 50 Liters) of water per capita per day (gpcd) is a basic human right [15]. The residential sized unit only produces, at maximum, 30 liters of water, and the SOURCE device only produces 6 liters of water. However, these maxima are under ideal conditions that are not frequently met in real-world applications. Therefore, for these smaller types of devices, the only realistic use is either offsetting total water supply or using it only to supply drinking water. SOURCE is unique in that the units can be arrange in an array formation, with multiple units linked together, making it much more versatile in use than the residential device which is a standalone system [13].

Table 2 shows what the Air Force Handbook for base bed downs states is the required amount of potable water needed per person, this amount of water is also supplied by the bear asset ROWPU (reverse osmosis water purification unit) [16]. For this type of technology to be used at FOBs it

is expected to be just as reliable as the ROWPUs. However, to use a ROWPU, there must be a body of water to draw from, this is not the case with an AWG, making it a much more versatile device for water generation.

Functions	Water Usage (gpcd)	Water Usage (lpcd)
Drinking	4	15
Personal Hygiene	3	11.3
Shower	15	56.7
Food Preparation	5	19
Hospital	2	7.6
Heat Treatment	1	3.8
Total	30	113.6

 Table 2 - Bare Base Water Usage [16]

The typical FOB is around 500 people [16], it would be very impractical to have a single device for each person. The ROWPU currently used can produce over 5000 liters of water per hour. In order to replace this with an AWG they either need to meet a water demand the ROWPU does, or function where the ROWPU cannot, like when there is not a water source to draw from. Even with the highest producing device analyzed to meet the same water capacity, 157 devices would be required. To meet the total water demand for 500 people 56,800 liters of water would have to be produced everyday which would be over 73 AWGs. This is also if they are performing at 100% efficiency. Finally, to produce only drinking water for a 500-person FOB, 7,500 liters of water would be needed every day which would be 10 devices. All these calculations were done using the Tsunami device since it produces the largest quantity of water, 773 liters of water per day. The Tsunami company has three larger capacity device than the Tsunami-500 which is the one used [14].

III. Methodology

3.1 Chapter Overview

This section will go over the process of how I gathered the data for the three Atmospheric Water Generators I analyzed in this paper as well as the 35 years' worth of weather data. It will discuss the process I used to create the spatial analysis of the efficiency percentage. Finally, it will go over how I defined and calculated the metrics reliability, resiliency and vulnerability and the locations chosen as case studies.

3.2 Data Gathering

To evaluate the Atmospheric Water Generators, a large amount of data had to be gathered, including both historical weather data and performance measures of the different AWGs. The performance data for each of the three AWG devices was utilized to create a linear regression model and used in conjunction with the historical weather data to evaluate the systems. This data can be found in Appendix C.

3.2.1 AWG Performance Data

The performance data for the three different devices used in this research were found/given in either a table or graph format. Each device had two independent variables that dictated the daily water production values. For the residential device and the Tsunami device, these variables included the temperature and relative humidity, while the SOURCE device required relative humidity and solar energy. These observed values and performances were used to create a linear regression model, outlined in Section 3.3 and 3.4, to predict daily water outputs.

3.2.2 Weather Data

The weather data obtained from AccuWeather spanned 1935 stations across the United States for 35 years, with daily average weather [17]. The variables included in the analysis are the weather station code, latitude, longitude, date the weather was observed, solar irradiance, minutes of sunshine, relative humidity, and temperature. An R-script was created to synthesize all the weather data and transform it into a usable format for regression analysis. This was done using a function which imports all excel files into a specified folder location. Due to the large quantity of data, this step could not be completed at one time.

To handle the large amount of data the files were split into ten groups ranging from 150 to 250 files per group for a total of 1935 files, one for each weather station. The groups were determined based on the location codes to keep data from the same points together. Importing each group into R Studio took anywhere from two to three hours depending on the size of the group. Each group of files was originally imported in a list format and was converted into a singular data frame using a bind command.

Each of the ten data frames were subset so that they contained only the data required for the analysis. This helped speed up processing time, which, when analyzing this quantity of data is

very important. The date format in the data frames was all located in one column, to ease calculations of separate seasons the date was split up into three separate columns using the as.date function in R.

Finally, the ten data frames were combined and split by year so that a singular data frame contained one years' worth of data for all 1935 location codes. A function named *bind.years* was created to do this by subsetting each of the ten original data frames by a single year then binding those years together. This code was run once for each year's worth of data.

One issue that arose during this process was that once the years were separated it was found that they did not all contain the 1935 location codes. By the process of elimination an error was found in the *bind.years* function where it was subsetting one of the data frames twice and missing another one. Once this error was rectified the function was run through again and all the correct data was accounted for.

3.3 Model Building

Using the data found in Appendix C, a linear model was created for each device to predict the output of water per day. These linear models can be seen in Equations 1-3. B_0 is the intercept and B_1 and B_2 are the constants for temperature and relative humidity or solar energy.

SOURCE Daily Water Havesting Rate =
$$-B_{0a} + B_{1a} * RH + B_{2a} * S$$
 (1)

Tsunami Daily Water Harvesting Rate =
$$-B_{0b} + B_{1b} * T_F + B_{2b} * RH$$
 (2)

Residential Hourly Water Harvesting Rate = $-B_{0c} + B_{1c} * T_c + B_{2c} * RH$ (3)

In these models T_c is the temperature in Celsius, T_F is the temperature in Fahrenheit, RH is the percent relative humidity, S is the solar energy (kWhr/m²), and all harvesting rates are reported in liters.

A separate model had to be built for each device due to the difference in the variables used and quantities of maximum water output. This section will explain the general process and the variations required for each device.

The weather data utilized had temperature recorded in Fahrenheit but as seen in Equation 3 the residential sized device utilizes Celsius so a new column in the data frame was added with the conversion to Celsius shown in Equation 5.

$$Celsius = (Fahrenheit - 32) * \frac{5}{9}$$
(5)

An efficiency percentage was created for each modeled output to normalize the results. This was done so that the performance of each device could better be compared since all have a vastly different maximum water output. To get the efficiency percentage the Water Harvesting rate was divided by ideal water output of that device and multiplied by 100. Since the residential device performance was reported in the water output per hour it requires an additional step of multiplying it by 24 to get the daily water output. Equations 6-8 show this process.

SOURCE Efficiency % =
$$\frac{\text{Daily Water Harvesting Rate (L)}}{6(L)} * 100$$
 (6)

$$Tsunami \ Efficiency \ \% = \frac{Daily \ Water \ Harvesting \ Rate \ (L)}{773(L)} * 100$$
(7)

Residential Efficiency %

$$= \frac{Hourly Water Harvesting Rate (L/h) * 24 (h)}{30(L)} * 100$$
⁽⁸⁾

The final step in processing the data was to split it up into the four different quarters. Quarter 1 are the months January-March, Quarter 2 are the months April-June, Quarter 3 are the months July-September and Quarter 4 are the months October-December. By splitting the data up by these months each season could be analyzed separately.

3.4 Model Assumptions and Validation

Each linear regression model for the different devices must be checked for their validity. This was done using the methods outlined in this section.

To check the first assumption for the linear model normality, the Shapiro-wilks test was used. The null hypothesis and alternative hypothesis for this test are as follows.
$H_0 \rightarrow$ The residuals are normal $H_a \rightarrow$ The residuals are not normal

The Durbin-Watson test is used to test for independence, the null hypothesis and alternative hypothesis for this test are as follows.

$H_0 \rightarrow True \ autocorrelation \ is \ zero(independent)$ $H_a \rightarrow True \ autocorrelation \ is \ not \ zero(not \ independent)$

The last test is to plot the residuals and determine if the plot is homoscedastic or heteroscedastic. This tests for constant variance, the null hypothesis and alternative hypothesis are as follows.

> $H_0 \rightarrow Constant \ variance(Homoscedastic)$ $H_a \rightarrow Nonconstant \ variance(Heteroscedastic)$

Another more reliable test for constant variance is the Breusch Pagan test. This test utilizes the explained sum of squares and the unexplained sum of squares to determine the p-value. The outputted value from the equation is then compared against the chi-squared value with the correct number of degrees of freedom. The hypothesizes are the same as the plotting test and the equation is as follows.

$$BP = \frac{\frac{SS_{explained}}{2}}{(\frac{SS_{unexplained}}{n})^2}$$
(9)

In Equation 9 n is the number of factors in the linear model, in this case two, and SS is sum of squares both explained and unexplained. This test can be run in r.

The model will be validated using cross validation. K-folds cross validation method splits the data into k number of parts. It then creates k number of models from the given data and tests them against each other.

Lastly, the predicted values, from the linear models that were created, was plotted against the observed values.

3.5 Spatial Analysis

All spatial analysis was created using only the data from 2019. To do this for each separate device the first step is to create a layer in GIS with each data point, this is done by utilizing the xy event layer tool. A county shapefile was used to get the average efficiency in each county, this was determined to be the best visual for the results [18]. The county average was best because the results from the data created some zero values where there should not be when not utilizing the average values for a specific county. These zeros create hot spots on the map when

the IDW or inverse distance weighing tool is used to create the raster. This is because while utilizing the tool the value assigned to each location cannot be greater than the highest or less than the lowest input [19]. Since there are true zeros in the date frame it would take some time to weed out the ones that should not be there. By averaging the values within the county, it eliminates this error.

Averaging the efficiency over the county was done by assigning efficiency data to the county shapefile by using the average value of efficiency as the rule for spatially joining. Since there was not a single data point in every county, to prevent any gaps in the analysis the spatial join rule of 'within a distance' was used. After some trial and error, it was determined that a 50-mile radius around each county resulted in the best analysis with the smallest number of gaps.

Finally, the feature to raster tool was used over the spatial join feature to create a raster of average efficiency for an atmospheric water generator in the United States. This process was completed for all four quarters for each different device. To ensure the scaling of each map was the same, the minimum and maximum values of zero and one hundred were hard coded into some of the United States territories that are not being evaluated. By doing this and setting the scaling to use minimum-maximum it forces the color of each map to be the same scale so that a 50% efficiency on one map is the same exact color as a 50% efficiency on another map. This is important for comparison purposes.

37

3.6 Reliability/Resiliency/Vulnerability

Reliability is defined by Hashimoto as how often the system fails; resiliency is how quickly the system recovers once a failure has occurred and vulnerability is how significant the likely consequences of failure may be. These definitions were applied in the context of an AWG by first defining what a failure was. Using the efficiency percentage means the same failure threshold can be applied to all three devices. A 30% efficiency was first applied to the data as the failure threshold to see the general output. Using the residential device, the data showed a good spread for each metric so 30% was chosen as the final failure threshold and applied to all devices.

For an AWG reliability is defined as the probability the device is in a successful state at any given time step. Figure 6 shows a visual representation of example data. Each point represents one days' worth of data. Utilizing the failure threshold of 30% every point that is above that is highlighted. Since they are above the threshold each of the highlighted points would make up the reliability percentage.



Figure 6 - Reliability Visual

To calculate reliability an ifelse statement was created where anytime the systems efficiency was below the set failure threshold, the dummy variable would be equal to a value of 0 and if it were above the failure threshold the value was set to be 1. For each quarter, the percent reliability was calculated by summing the dummy variables and dividing it by the length of that vector and multiplying it by 100, this can be seen in Equation 10. This means that a 0% reliability means that the AWG never left a failure state during the observed period and a 100% reliability means it never entered a failing state.

$$Reliability \% = \frac{Number \ of \ Times \ Successful \ in \ a \ Year}{Number \ of \ Days \ in \ a \ Year} * 100$$
(10)

For the AWG resiliency was defined as the probability that if the current day is below the set failure threshold the next day will be above the threshold. Looking at Figure 7, since each point represents a day resiliency is the probability percentage that when day 1 is in a failure state that day two will be in a success state.



Figure 7 – Resiliency Visual

To evaluate this metric another column was created by taking the reliability variable and shifting the column up one. That way in a single row both the current state of the device and the state of the device for the next day can be referenced. Another dummy variable was used to define if the device was resilient for any given two-day period. If both the current day and next day were zeros, meaning the device stayed in a failure state, then the resilience was also equal to zero for that instance because the device did not recover from a failing state. However, if the current day is zero and the next day is 1, meaning it's in a successful state then the resilience dummy variable is equal to one for that instance. This was executed with a series of ifelse statements in R Studio.

Just like with reliability the final metric for resiliency was calculated as a percentage. Taking the sum of the total number of times the system recovered from a failing state and dividing it by the total number of times it was in a failing state and multiplying by 100, this can be seen in Equation 11.

$$Resiliency \% = \frac{Success in time t | Failure in t - 1}{Number of Failure in year} * 100$$
(11)

For the AWG vulnerability was defined as, the maximum average failure. Looking at Figure 8, it shows the failure threshold, and the vulnerability is the distance away from that threshold. Instead of reporting this in efficiency percentage it was reported in the maximum average of expected liters deficient from the failure threshold.



Figure 8 - Vulnerability Visual

This was done by first using a grouping function in R to create a new column of group numbers. Anytime the reliability variable switch from 0 to 1 or 1 to 0, so from a successful state to a failure state or vice versa a new group number was created. This allowed for grouping each of the failure periods together. The data frames were then aggregated over the efficiency percentage by taking the average efficiency for each grouping.

Depending on the season and device this created anywhere from 1 to 20 different vulnerability groupings. Since only the failing states were being looked at any instance the system was not failing was grouped together. For each instance of failure, the number of days of each failure was also calculated, or the number of days the system was deficient. The efficiency of the device was

then converted into the number of liters of water it would produce in a 24-hour period deficient from the failure threshold. Equations 12-14 were used to produce this deficiency from failure.

SOURCE Liters Deficient =
$$\left(Failure * \frac{6}{100}\right) - \left(Efficiency * \frac{6}{100}\right)$$
 (12)

Tsunami Liters Deficient =
$$\left(Failure * \frac{773}{100}\right) - \left(Efficiency * \frac{773}{100}\right)$$
 (13)

Residential Liters Deficient =
$$\left(Failure * \frac{30}{100}\right) - \left(Efficiency * \frac{30}{100}\right)$$
 (14)

The final metric reported for vulnerability was determined by using the max function over the liters deficient.

All three metrics were then wrapped up into a function which requires the data frame, the weather station code, and the failure threshold to run.

Since this function looks at each location code separately, a for loop was created to run a single year of data through for each location. This was done by running the for loop for all unique values in the weather station code column of the data frame. The results were then combined into an output data frame by using the rbind command to add each new row of data for all 1935 unique location codes. The final results data frame holds the following variables for each location, weather station code, latitude, longitude, year, average efficiency, reliability, resiliency, and vulnerability for each quarter and annual.

To be able to compare the 35 different years efficiency all 35 separate results data frames for a single device were combined using the rbind command.

3.7 Case Studies

To better analyze the three different metrics described in the previous section four bases were selected to pull out and visualize their data for comparisons. These bases can be seen in Figure 9. Originally six bases were chosen, but Hill AFB (UT) and Laughlin AFB (TX) showed minimal variance from their neighbors. Hill AFB never even passed the failure threshold of 30% efficiency for either the residential or tsunami device, so these two points were eliminated to have more concise results.

The four Air Force bases were chosen due to their locations and climates as well as the results from the initial efficiency maps from the residential device. Using the Koppen-Geiger climate classification system Cannon AFB is BWk or a desert/arid climate, Fairchild AFB is CSa or Hotsummer Mediterranean climate, and both Hurlburt Field and Joint Base Andrews are CFa or Humid subtropical climate [20]. Even though Joint Base Andrews and Hurlburt Field are classified the same, the preliminary check of efficiency showed that the performance of the AWG varied greatly each season at Andrews but was much more consistent throughout the year at Hurlburt which is why both were selected.

44



Figure 9 - Map of Case Studies

Using the same locations shown in Figure 9 and the previously determined values for efficiency, reliability and resiliency were used to graph the values across the years 1985 to 2019. This was done to see if there was any discernable trend as the years progressed.

IV. Results

4.1 Model Building Results

Equations 15-17 are the resulting linear regression models for each different device from SOURCE, Tsunami and Residential.

SOURCE Daily Water Havesting Rate =
$$-2.739 + 0.0474 * RH + 0.841 * S$$
 (15)

$$Tsunami \ Daily \ Water \ Harvesting \ Rate = -1716.07 + 17.4 * T_F + 13.14 * RH$$
(16)

Residential Hourly Water Harvesting Rate $= -0.8358 + 0.02659 * T_c + 0.01012 * RH$ (17)

The summary of each model showing the coefficients and R2 value can be found in Appendix B. The first model shown in Equation 15 has an adjusted r squared value of 0.954, the second model in Equation 16 has an adjusted r squared value of 0.906 and the final model shown in Equation 17 has an adjusted r squared value of 0.807. This shows that for each model the variables account for, on the low end, 80% of the variability in the hourly or daily water harvesting rate.

4.2 Model Validation Results

For all the completed tests, if needed the assumed alpha value was 0.05. If the P-value, which is the reported value, is above 0.05 then the test fails to reject H_0 for that test, this is the desired result to validate the model. If the P-value is below 0.05, the assumed alpha value, then H_0 is

rejected and H_a is accepted for that test. The results from all the tests can be found in Table 3. For all three tests, Shapiro-Wilks, Durbin-Watson, and Breusch Pagan the only instance where the model does not pass is the Tsunami device for the Durbin-Watson test, or the test for autocorrelation. This means the Tsunami device model is not independent.

Test	SOURCE	Tsunami	Residential
R^2	0.95	0.90	0.81
Shapiro-Wilks (P-value)	0.1824	0.07372	0.6474
Durbin Watson (P-value)	0.1345	1.846e-13	0.4729
Breusch Pagan (P-value)	0.2879	0.295	0.1491
Residual Standard Error	0.2168	108.3	0.0841
K-folds Cross Validation (RMSE)	0.2206974	108.57	0.1476

 Table 3 - Linear Model Test Results

Figure 10 shows the plot of the residuals versus the independent variables, this tests for constant variance. The results from the test look to be heteroscedastic for the three devices. However due to the minimal amount data points, especial for the residential device it is hard to tell. Because of the vague results further testing for constant variance was completed using the Breusch Pagan test, these results can be found in Table 3. All values are above the 0.05 alpha value so fail to reject H_0 . This is the wanted results from the test and further validates the models.

The last test completed is the K-folds Cross validation test. The RMSE or the root mean squared error, of this test is compared to the residual standard error from the original linear model. The goal of this cross validation is to have the two values be as close as possible, for each device the values are within a small factor of each other which then validates the model.



Figure 10 - Residuals Plots

The last results gotten from the individual device water output data is plotting the observed values versus the predicted values. The results from this for each device are shown in Figure 11. A 45 line was drawn on each plot, ideally there would be 50% of the results on either side of the line. This is certainly the case with all devices even though Tsunami has a small deviation at a low output volume.



Figure 11 - Predicted Vs Observed Plots

While validating the linear model is not a necessary step to create the final efficiency raster, it helps provide valuable information on how reliable the efficiency data is.

4.3 Spatial Analysis Results

The Residential device's initial spatial analysis results are shown as raster map in Figure 12. It represents the efficiency percentage created using the inverse distance weighing (IDW) tool on the Residential devices quarter 3 efficiency data.

Figure 12 shows that there are many 'hot spots' in the data or areas where there is a lower value than is expected. Typically, this type of error could be eliminated by selecting all the problem points and removing them from the analysis. However, since there are so many data points and some points do contain 0% efficiency when they should there is no easy way to remove these points. Because of this the IDW tool output was not used for the final analysis. The IDW raster method takes all the data points into account when creating the raster while the spatial join only utilizes the average value point for each county. Which is why, given the data, the spatial join is the best method to perform the spatial analysis.



Figure 12 - Residential Device IDW Raster

Figure 13 shows the final efficiency output from the spatial join method for each quarter for each device. First looking at the results for the SOURCE device, for each quarter it has the highest overall efficiency of any device. This correlates with the fact that, since it works off the sorption method it works in lower relative humidity levels. So, in places like Utah where it is a very hot but dry climate in the summer it performs much better than the other two devices that use the refrigeration method. Since SOURCE uses solar irradiation instead of temperature to determine its water output per day, it is affected by locations that either have more or less sun depending on the season. Looking at the results for Quarter 4, it shows a decrease in efficiency at the top of the United States where the amount of sunlight per day is decreased significantly. Appendix A shows the efficiency results for Alaska. Alaska shows the lowest efficiency for SOURCE out of any other location in quarter 4 this can be attributed to the limited amount of sunlight during those months. All the calculations for the SOURCE device were calculated under the assumption

it received all the possible sunlight during any given day however since the solar panels do not track the sun this is not possible. Therefore, it is expected that the actual efficiency of the SOURCE device in any given location to be lower than what is shown in Figure 13.

Next looking at the Tsunami device in Figure 13, the gradient shown in quarters 2 and 3 is exactly what was expected for the warmer months, in the colder and very dry climates there is little to no efficiency from the atmospheric water generator. While in the warmer and more humid climates, like Florida and Georgia, the Tsunami AWG has as great as a 95% efficiency in some areas. Tsunami's raster imagines also show clear distinction in the efficiency around where the mountain ranges are and close to the coast. This is expected due to how mountains and the ocean affect the surrounding climate.

Looking at the different quarter outputs for the device it shows a large range of Tsunami's efficiency. This is very logical considering the linear models' inputs to create the water harvesting rate are only based off temperature and relative humidity. Therefore, the device potentially works best in a region between 15 degrees above and below the equator due to the warm and humid environments as well as the little to no variation in the seasons [14]. This smaller seasonal variation can be seen in Figure 14 showing Hawaii's efficiency for each device.

Lastly the Residential device shows the worst overall efficiency. This makes sense considering the data that was used, the device only reached a maximum of 60% efficiency in the best-case

scenario, which looking back at Table 1 in Section 2.2.3 is 30°C and 62% relative humidity. However, even though it has an overall lower efficiency looking at quarter 2 and 3, the higher efficiency areas follow the same trend as the Tsunami device.



Figure 13 – Continental United States AWG Efficiency Raster Maps



Figure 14 - Hawaii AWG Efficiency Raster Maps

4.4 Reliability/Resiliency/Vulnerability

Using the steps explained in the methods section each metric was calculated for each device. Figures 15-17 show the results at each of the four bases. As expected from looking at the efficiency map the SOURCE device has the best reliability and resiliency followed by the Tsunami device and then the Residential device. Since the failure threshold was set at 30% efficiency the residential device only falls just short of Tsunami, however if the failure threshold was set higher it is expected a much larger gap would be seen.

Looking at Figure 15, which shows the reliability of each device at all the locations, they follow the same trend where quarter 3 has the best performance followed by quarter 2. The SOURCE device performs remarkably better than the other two in the drier colder locations of Cannon AFB and Fairchild AFB. However, they are more evenly matched at warmer more humid climates of Joint Base Andrews and Hurlburt Field.



Figure 15 - Reliability Results

Looking at Figure 16, at most locations resiliency for any device does not get over 60% except for the SOURCE device at Fairchild and Cannon. For resiliency, the areas where there is no data does not mean the device is not resilient during that quarter, it means that the device did not go into a failure state so it can not go from a failure to a success. Just like with reliability SOURCE performs the best at all locations and Tsunami is second except for quarter 4 at both Joint Base Andrews and Hurlburt Field. Future data analysis comparing the two devices at other locations would have to be preformed to understand why the Tsunami device underperforms compared to the residential device in only those two instances.



Figure 16 - Resiliency Results

Since each device maximum output is vastly different, that means their vulnerability or max average deficiency is also very different. To better compare the three devices, the two with lower capacity, the residential and SOURCE, were normalized to be able to reach the max capacity of the Tsunami device. This was done by multiplying the vulnerability by the number of devices required to reach the capacity of the Tsunami. For SOURCE this meant multiplying it by 129 to reach just over the capacity of 773 liters of water per day. For the residential device this meant multiplying it by 26. Whole numbers were used since you cannot use 1/3 of a piece of technology.

Figure 17 shows the vulnerability for each device, with the normalized for the smaller devices. Normalized values being those that outputs match the largest capacity device, Tsunami. To note in Figure 17 at Hurlburt Field there is no data for quarter 3, this is because all devices never enter a failure state during that quarter so they cannot be deficient from the failure threshold.



Figure 17 - Vulnerability Results

Looking at the results it shows that while the residential device performs overall the worst in the other metrics, when it does fail it fails by the smallest amount for all locations and quarters.

4.5 Case Studies/Results Across the years

The final analysis performed was plotting each devices efficiency, reliability, and resiliency over the course of the 35 years' worth of historical data, 1985-2019 [17]. This was completed to see if there is any discernible trend to the data as the years progress.

Both the Tsunami and Residential device bounce around, going up and down during the same years. This makes sense because both use the refrigeration method, so they will be affected by the varying temperatures and humidity's in the same manner. The SOURCE device on the other hand shows a considerable trend upwards for both the efficiency and reliability in the last 15 years.



Figure 18 - Metrics over the 35 Years

V. Discussion

5.1 Results

Looking at Figure 13, the efficiency mapping, it is clear the SOURCE panel outperforms the other two devices in all seasons. Due to the methods the devices use, sorption and refrigeration, from this it shows the sorption device outperforming the refrigeration devices. This makes sense given that the sorption device works well in far lower relative humidity levels than the other two types. However, this comes at a cost, sorption devices, based on current research, produce far less quantities of water than the other two methods. So, while it is more efficient, it still might not be the best device depending on its intended use.

The Tsunami device outperforms the residential sized device and looking at the reliability metrics it shows that for each season and each location the Tsunami device preforms better by relatively the same amount. The United States consists of 10 different climate zones [21]. Due to the considerable reliance all atmospheric water generators have on the weather it stands to reason that the performance of the AWG will vary greatly throughout the Unites States. Both the Tsunami and the residential device prove this, looking at Figure 13, especially the Tsunami devices results show the different climate zones through the different quarters. If the residential devices results were scaled differently, they show a similar pattern, this can be seen in Appendix

A.

The resiliency of each device follows the same trend as their reliability. The SOURCE device performs the best in each location and season, and Tsunami and Residential devices follow. This shows that for atmospheric water generators that the devices that perform better are more likely to come back from a failure than those that perform poorly. With the knowledge of its reliance on the weather and climate of the region this comes as no surprise due to the intermediate weather changes. During the seasonal changes a well performing device will likely switch from failure to success quite often, while lesser device would likely enter a failure state and stay there unless there are large fluctuations in the weather.

What was surprising is that while the SOURCE device outperformed the other two in every other category, it performed the worst of the three for Vulnerability. SOURCE had the largest possible deficiency in water across the board. Meaning that when it failed it was not producing any water. This occurred for all four case study locations in every season. Meanwhile the Tsunami device, which was the only one not scaled up, and the residential device still produced water even when they were in a failure state during a some quarters at the different locations. While this might be due the fact that the SOURCE device produces a much smaller amount of water, 0.7% of what Tsunami produces and 20% of what the residential device produces, it could also be because it utilizes the sorption method and the other two do not. An additional analysis, with the same outputs for vulnerability with a secondary sorption device would have to be conducted to verify the cause.

As pointed out in the results section the only device that had an upward trend over the 35 years is the sorption device. This device, unlike the others that use temperature, utilizes solar irradiance to predict the potential water production rate. Utilizing the data from Accuweather [17] solar irradiance was graphed which shows a significant increase over the years, this can be seen in Appendix A Figure 21. This accounts for the difference between the outputs of the three devices and shows how within the last 15 years the sorption method has become significantly more effective in the United States.

5.2 Similar Research

Lord et al [22] investigated atmospheric water generators and how they could solve the lack of drinking water for around 1 billion people. They selected water production levels for different relative humidity percentages per day so that it would meet the targeted goal of five liters of drinking water per day per person and chose two different devices with potential yield that met these parameters. From their mapping the AWG, it shows they have the highest yield right around 15 degrees above and below the equator, which was stated before as the best location for use. They next calculated the amount of drinking water in areas without access to potable drinking water with a theoretical yield of an AWG at that location. They then mapped the number of hours of certain levels of relative humidity during the day globally. The hope is to use this information to aid in the development of a solar power AWG.

They found that most areas that lacked a safely managed drinking water system (SMDW) are right around 15 degrees above and below the equator. Which is also the locations they found the AWG to work best. This coincides with the results from my analysis as well showing that while the technology does work in the United States, especially the refrigeration devices are not reliable with how they currently function.

5.3 Real World Applications of AWGs

One motivation for this research was to determine the feasibility of this technology at a foreign operating base (FOB). Typically, a FOB is around 500 people. If the location of the FOB were to have a similar climate to Florida, then to ensure enough water is suppled it should be estimated the device will only perform at 60% efficiency. Florida has on average a 60% efficiency rate for the devices looked at in this research. The goal of the AWG would be to provide the minimum amount of water per person for a FOB which would be 56,800 for a water needs and 7,500 for just drinking water. To meet the water demand at the 60% efficiency level the project amount of water produced each day would have to exceed 79,520 liters for all water needs and 10,500 for only drinking water. Tsunami's largest device produces 7,200 liters of water per day however at that size it loses its mobility which might make it unsuitable for use at a FOB depending on the timeline for use.

So instead of looking at providing water for such a large amount of personnel with water at more transient locations I looked at different possible uses. The 611th Civil Engineering Squadron

(CES) is based out of JBER, Alaska but controls the infrastructure for 21 remote locations across Hawaii, Alaska, and Wake Island. Two of those locations in Hawaii, Ka'ala and Koke'e are minimally- manned radar sites staffed by the Hawaii Air National Guard. Both locations are on the top of mountains, one of which is located at 4,025 ft in elevation on top of Mt Ka'ala. Based on the information gathered from the water resource manager in the 611 CES both sites have been without proper potable water systems in the recent years. At Ka'ala there is a filtration system of both sand and chlorine, the water comes from a rain catchment system however right now the chlorine system is being bypassed and the sand filtration is subpar, leaving the water with elevated TDS levels significantly above the recommended limit. Recently, 250-gallon cisterns have been utilized on this site for drinking water purposes, but previously water was brought on site via 5-gallon drums whenever the site was going to be in use. At Koke'e there is no functional filtration system on site, when the site is in use water is brought up in jugs.

Both sites would require around 7,570 liters of water per day based on the number of personnel. This number however is based on peak demands when there are 20 people on site during training weekends. Typically, these sites are only occupied by around 5 people which would bring the water requirement down to 2,400 liters per day. Based on the results shown in Figure 14 AWGs perform much better throughout the year in Hawaii than in the continental United States. This coincides with Lord et al results which showed AWGs working best 15 degrees above and below the equator [22]. Based on this information and the results of all three devices, the potable water issue at Ka'ala and Koke'e could be solved with the use of an AWG. They have lower water

66

requirements, and their water storage tanks are still usable, it is just the filtration and disinfection systems which are not performing as they should.

Under the assumption training weekends happen only once a month if they use one of Tsunami's larger systems that produces 3,600 liters of water per day in conjunction with a 20,000-liter gallon water tank they would meet both their daily and peak demand needs. However, the efficiency of the Tsunami-500 gets as low as 75%, in which case, if a peak weekend lasts four days they would be short about 10,000 liters of water. This remaining amount of water could be covered by either buying a secondary device to use just during peak weekends or finding another supplementary source of water.

5.4 Recommendations for Future Research

It is recommended that future research be done to investigate the energy consumption of each atmospheric water generator device. This could be done for various levels of efficiency of the devices. The performance of the AWG can also be projected globally using the linear regressions created, given access to the needed weather data. The energy consumption research could aid in determining a price per liter of water cost as well as determining the systems compatibility with solar power. Projecting the performance of the AWG globally will show how the device performs in all climates found globally instead of just those found in the United States. In order to be able to use this technology more reliably advances need to be made specifically in the sorption methods water collection ability and in the refrigeration methods efficiency.

67

VI. Conclusion

Both the efficiency raster maps Figures 13 and 14, and the three different metric outputs, Figures 15-17, show a large variance in how well an atmospheric water generator performs in the United States given the different seasons. However, the SOURCE device is as much as two times more efficient than the two devices which operate on the refrigeration method. The SOURCE device utilizes the sorption method leading to the conclusion that this method is the most efficient in climates found in the United States. As it stands right now devices that operate with this method produce on average far less quantities of water than the other two methods.

The seasonal variation of the refrigeration method, ranging from 0% to 98% reliability at Joint Base Andrews alone, makes a refrigeration-based AWG an unreliable source of water generation for the continental United States. Quarter 3 sees the best performance for all devices at all locations while quarters 1 and 4 see that worst performance for all devices at all locations.

The sorption method can be seen with an average efficiency above 70% year-round at all locations, but as stated before the quantity of water produced per device is on average the lowest and would be inefficient for a larger group of personnel. Because of this, as it stands right now the use of an AWG as a sole source of water is not recommended.

In locations like Hawaii a refrigeration device sees on average above 40% efficiency for a standard device and above 60% efficiency for an advanced device year-round. So, while an

AWG is not worth the investment in the continental United States right now in locations with climates similar to Hawaii, for small populations of personnel in rural areas it can be used as a good solution to any potable water needs. Like the examples given before of Ka'ala and Koke'e Air Stations.

Most devices that produce potable water like the ROWPU require a body of water nearby or ground water to draw from. In some locations however there might not be anything available to draw from. So, while atmospheric water generation may not be as reliable for potable water its versatility makes it an important technology. Due to its unique function and mobility, an AWG can be a very usefully technology as a supplemental water supply or to primarily supply only drinking water. For a deployed location instead of shipping out cases and cases of water bottles a few of these devices could be used instead. This would not only save space but is also a much more environmentally friendly option. An AWG can also be deployed in cases of a natural disaster to provide much needed water without the requirement of built infrastructure. Until the sorption method devices are able to catch up to the refrigeration-based devices in the capabilities of amount of water produced per unit they are not worth the investment at this time.

Appendix A

	SOURCE	Tsunami	Residential	
Quarte r 1				N
Quarte r 2				Legend Efficiency %
Quarte r 3				- 75 - 50 - 25
Quarte r 4				0
	Kilometers 0 350 700 1,400			

Figure 19 - Alaska AWG Efficiency Raster Maps


Figure 20 - Residential Sized device un-adjusted efficiency raster maps



Figure 21 - Solar Energy (kWhr/m^2) from 1985-2019



Figure 22 - SOURCE Daily Efficiency Data for 2019 at Case Study Locations



Figure 23 - Tsunami Daily Efficiency Data for 2019 at Case Study Locations



Figure 24 - Residential Daily Efficiency data for 2019 at Case Study Locations

Appendix B

```
Call:
lm(formula = liters.per.day ~ Avg.RH + Solar.Energy..kWhr.m.2.,
   data = source.data)
Residuals:
           10 Median
                         3Q
  Min
                                Max
-0.4676 -0.1517 0.0362 0.1546 0.2905
Coefficients:
                       Estimate Std. Error t value Pr(>|t|)
                      -2.738659 0.407786 -6.716 3.28e-07 ***
(Intercept)
Avg.RH
                       0.047429 0.002318 20.464 < 2e-16 ***
Solar.Energy..kWhr.m.2. 0.841230 0.067278 12.504 9.63e-13 ***
Signif. codes: 0 `***' 0.001 `**' 0.01 `*' 0.05 `.' 0.1 ` ' 1
Residual standard error: 0.2168 on 27 degrees of freedom
Multiple R-squared: 0.9552,
                            Adjusted R-squared: 0.9518
F-statistic: 287.6 on 2 and 27 DF, p-value: < 2.2e-16
```

Figure 25 - SOURCE Linear Model Summary

```
Call:
lm(formula = Water.Output ~ RH + Temperature, data = Tsunami)
Residuals:
             1Q Median
    Min
                               ЗQ
                                      Max
-176.286 -78.376 -9.321 51.055 258.486
Coefficients:
             Estimate Std. Error t value Pr(>|t|)
(Intercept) -1716.0730 101.3334 -16.93 <2e-16 ***
RH
             13.1371
                        0.7178 18.30
                                        <2e-16 ***
Temperature 17.3966
                        1.0551
                                16.49 <2e-16 ***
___
signif. codes: 0 `***' 0.001 `**' 0.01 `*' 0.05 `.' 0.1 ` ' 1
Residual standard error: 108.3 on 62 degrees of freedom
Multiple R-squared: 0.9073,
                             Adjusted R-squared: 0.9043
F-statistic: 303.4 on 2 and 62 DF, p-value: < 2.2e-16
```

Figure 26 - Tsunami Linear Model Summary

```
Call:
lm(formula = Water.Harvesting.Rate ~ Temp + RH, data = Residential)
Residuals:
               2
                       3
                               4
                                         5
                                                 6
                                                          7
      1
0.06043 0.02476 -0.13357 -0.07759 0.07185 0.09925 -0.04513
Coefficients:
           Estimate Std. Error t value Pr(>|t|)
(Intercept) -0.835808 0.231492 -3.611 0.02255 *
                     0.005173 5.140 0.00679 **
Temp
           0.026592
                     0.002703 3.746 0.02002 *
RH
            0.010123
___
Signif. codes: 0 `***' 0.001 `**' 0.01 `*' 0.05 `.' 0.1 ` ' 1
Residual standard error: 0.1063 on 4 degrees of freedom
Multiple R-squared: 0.8713, Adjusted R-squared: 0.807
F-statistic: 13.54 on 2 and 4 DF, p-value: 0.01656
```

Figure 27 - Residential Linear Model Summary

Appendix C

RH (%)	Solar Energy (kWhr/m^2)	Liters Per Day	
20	5	2.5	
30	5	3	
40	5	3.5	
50	5	4	
60	5	4	
70	5	4.5	
20	5.41	3	
30	5.41	3.5	
40	5.41	4	
50	5.41	4	
60	5.41	4.5	
70	5.41	5	
20	5.83	3	
30	5.83	3.5	
40	5.83	4	
50	5.83	4.5	
60	5.83	5	
70	5.83	5.5	
20	6.25	3	
30	6.25	4	
40	6.25	4.5	
50	6.25	5	
60	6.25	5.5	
70	6.25	6	
20	6.66	3.5	
30	6.66	4	
40	6.66	5	
50	6.66	5.5	
60	6.66	6	
70	6.66	6	

 Table 4 - Source Observed Values

Temperature	RH (%)	Liters Per Day
104	0.3	311
104	0.35	391
104	0.4	468
104	0.45	553
104	0.5	637
104	0.55	811
104	0.6	979
104	0.65	1073
104	0.7	1159
104	0.75	1253
104	0.8	1343
104	0.85	1441
104	0.9	1534
95	0.3	238
95	0.35	298
95	0.4	355
95	0.45	422
95	0.5	486
95	0.55	620
95	0.6	748
95	0.65	818
95	0.7	884
95	0.75	957
95	0.8	1024
95	0.85	1101
95	0.9	1170
86	0.3	180
86	0.35	224
86	0.4	267
86	0.45	326
86	0.5	398
86	0.55	511
86	0.6	562
86	0.65	615
86	0.7	668
86	0.75	720

 Table 5 - Tsunami Observed Values

86	0.8	768
86	0.85	837
86	0.9	884
77	0.3	134
77	0.35	167
77	0.4	198
77	0.45	242
77	0.5	271
77	0.55	378
77	0.6	417
77	0.65	457
77	0.7	495
77	0.75	533
77	0.8	573
77	0.85	613
77	0.9	655
68	0.3	100
68	0.35	124
68	0.4	146
68	0.45	178
68	0.5	200
68	0.55	278
68	0.6	307
68	0.65	335
68	0.7	362
68	0.75	391
68	0.8	420
68	0.85	447
68	0.9	482

Temperature	RH (%)	Liters Per Hour
30	62	0.65
20	75	0.48
6	80	0
32	20	0.14
21	45	0.25
6	57	0
25	50	0.29

 Table 6 - Residential Observed Values

Bibliography

- [1] Shourideh, Amir Hossein, Wael Bou Ajram, Jalal Al Lami, Salem Haggag, and Abraham Mansouri. "A Comprehensive Study of an Atmospheric Water Generator Using Peltier Effect." *Thermal Science and Engineering Progress* 6 (June 2018): 14–26. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tsep.2018.02.015.
- [2] Mekonnen, Mesfin M., and Arjen Y. Hoekstra. "Four Billion People Facing Severe Water Scarcity." Science Advances, vol. 2, no. 2, Feb. 2016, doi:10.1126/sciadv.1500323.
- [3] Li, Renyuan, Yusuf Shi, Mossab Alsaedi, Mengchun Wu, Le Shi, and Peng Wang. "Hybrid Hydrogel with High Water Vapor Harvesting Capacity for Deployable Solar-Driven Atmospheric Water Generator." *Environmental Science & Technology* 52, no. 19 (October 2, 2018): 11367–77. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.8b02852.
- [4] Bagheri, Farshid. "Performance Investigation of Atmospheric Water Harvesting Systems." Water Resources and Industry 20 (December 2018): 23–28. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wri.2018.08.001.
- [5] Hashimoto, Tsuyoshi, et al. "Reliability, Resiliency, and Vulnerability Criteria for Water Resource System Performance Evaluation." *Water Resources Research*, vol. 18, no. 1, Feb. 1982, pp. 14–20., https://doi.org/10.1029/wr018i001p00014.
- [6] Salsali, Hamidreza, Edward McBean, and Joseph Brunsting. "Virus Removal Efficiency of Cambodian Ceramic Pot Water Purifiers." *Journal of Water and Health* 9, no. 2 (June 1, 2011): 306–11. https://doi.org/10.2166/wh.2011.087.
- [7] Jones, Christopher H., John Meyer, Pablo K. Cornejo, William Hogrewe, Chad J. Seidel, and Sherri M. Cook. "A New Framework for Small Drinking Water Plant Sustainability Support and Decision-Making." *Science of The Total Environment* 695 (December 2019): 133899. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2019.133899.
- [8] Lin, Shihong, and Menachem Elimelech. "Staged Reverse Osmosis Operation: Configurations, Energy Efficiency, and Application Potential." *Desalination* 366 (June 2015): 9–14. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.desal.2015.02.043.
- [9] Lee, Minju, Mikyeong Kim, Yonghwan Kim, and Mooyoung Han. "Consideration of Rainwater Quality Parameters for Drinking Purposes: A Case Study in Rural Vietnam." *Journal of Environmental Management* 200 (September 2017): 400–406. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2017.05.072.

- [10] Tu, Yaodong, Ruzhu Wang, Yannan Zhang, and Jiayun Wang. "Progress and Expectation of Atmospheric Water Harvesting." *Joule* 2, no. 8 (August 2018): 1452–75. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.joule.2018.07.015.
- [11] BBC News. "Cloud Catchers of Peru BBC News." YouTube, YouTube, 6 Dec. 2016, https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=G4GHGBov15U.
- [12] "How Do Hydropanels Work?" *SOURCE Water*, 1 Nov. 2021, https://www.source.co/how-hydropanels-work/.
- [13] Joshi, V.P., V.S. Joshi, H.A. Kothari, M.D. Mahajan, M.B. Chaudhari, and K.D. Sant. "Experimental Investigations on a Portable Fresh Water Generator Using a Thermoelectric Cooler." *Energy Procedia* 109 (March 2017): 161–66. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.egypro.2017.03.085.
- [14] "At Tsunami Products, We Design and Build Machines That Extract Water from Humidity in the Air -Efficiently and Economically." *Tsunami Products*, https://www.tsunamiproducts.com/.
- [15] "Survival Needs." Water Encyclopedia, www.waterencyclopedia.com/St-Ts/Survival-Needs.html#:~:text=Drinking%2C%20sanitation%2C%20and%20hygiene%20needs,gall ons)%20per%20person%20per%20day.
- [16] United States Air Force. Air Force Handbook 10-222, vol. 2, 2012.
- [17] AccuWeather. 2020. United States Daily Weather Data 1985-2019. Retrieved from: https://www.accuweather.com/en/us/united-states-weather
- [18] "Shapefile." United States Census Bureau, 2018. Retrieved from: https://www.census.gov/ geographies/mapping-files/time-series/geo/carto-boundary-file.html
- [19] "IDW (Spatial Analyst)." *IDW (Spatial Analyst)-ArcGIS Pro | Documentation*, https://pro.arcgis.com/en/pro-app/latest/tool-reference/spatial-analyst/idw.htm.
- [20] Peel, M. C., et al. "Updated World Map of the Köppen-Geiger Climate Classification." *Hydrology and Earth System Sciences*, vol. 11, no. 5, 2007, pp. 1633–1644., https://doi.org/10.5194/hess-11-1633-2007.
- [21] Boland, Kate. "What Are the Climate Zones of the USA?" *WorldAtlas*, WorldAtlas, 16 Apr. 2020, https://www.worldatlas.com/articles/what-are-the-climate-zones-of-the-usa.html.

[22] Lord, Jackson, Ashley Thomas, Neil Treat, Matthew Forkin, Robert Bain, Pierre Dulac, Cyrus H. Behroozi, et al. "Global Potential for Harvesting Drinking Water from Air Using Solar Energy." *Nature* 598, no. 7882 (October 28, 2021): 611–17. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-021-03900-w.

REPORT DO		Form Approved OMB No. 074-0188		
The public reporting burden for this colli instructions, searching existing data sou Send comments regarding this burden e Department of Defense, Washington He Highway, Suite 1204, Arlington, VA 2220 subject to a penalty for failing to comply PI FASE DO NOT RETURN YOUR	ection of information is estimated to average 1 hour per r rces, gathering and maintaining the data needed, and cor istimate or any other aspect of the collection of informatio adquarters Services, Directorate for Information Operatic 2-4302. Respondents should be aware that notwithstand with a collection of information if it does not display a cu ORM TO THE ABOVE ADDRESS	responsion, incluing and ing any rrently v	e, including the time for reviewing g and reviewing the collection of information. Iding suggestions for reducing this burden to Reports (0704-0188), 1215 Jefferson Davis other provision of law, no person shall be valid OMB control number.	
1. REPORT DATE (DD-MM-YYYY)	2. REPORT TYPE		3. DATES COVERED (From - To)	
22-03-2022	22-03-2022 Larger Master's Thesis		October $2020 - March 2022$	
TITLE AND SUBTITLE	<u> </u>	5a.	CONTRACT NUMBER	
EFFICIENCY MAPPING AND DETER VULNERABILITY OF ATMOSPH	RMINATION OF RELIABILITY, RESILIENCY AND IERIC WATER GENERATORS IN THE UNITED	5b. GRANT NUMBER		
	STATES	5c.	PROGRAM ELEMENT NUMBER	
6. AUTHOR(S)		5d.	PROJECT NUMBER	
Sadowski, Erica F., Captain	, USAF	5e. '	TASK NUMBER	
		5f. \	WORK UNIT NUMBER	
7. PERFORMING ORGANIZATION NAMES(S) AND ADDRESS(S) Air Force Institute of Technology Graduate School of Engineering and Management (AFIT/ENY) 2950 Hobson Way, Building 640			8. PERFORMING ORGANIZATION REPORT NUMBER AFIT-ENV-MS-22-M-256	
9. SPONSORING/MONITORING AGENCY NAME(S) AND ADDRESS(ES) AGENCY Air Force Civil Engineering Center ADDRESS 139 Barnes Drive, suite 2, Tyndall AFB, FL PHONE and EMAIL 850-280-6450, reza.salavani@us.af.mik ATTN: POC Mr. Reza Salavani			10. SPONSOR/MONITOR'S ACRONYM(S) AFCEC 11. SPONSOR/MONITOR'S REPORT NUMBER(S)	
12. DISTRIBUTION/AVAILABI DISTRUBTION STATEMENT	LITY STATEMENT [A. APPROVED FOR PUBLIC RELEASE; DIS	TRIBU	TION UNLIMITED.	
13. SUPPLEMENTARY NOTES This material is declared protection in the United	a work of the U.S. Government ar States.	nd is	not subject to copyright	
14. ABSTRACT				
Atmospheric Water General technologies: refrigeration, dehumidifier and works be desiccant to extract the wa harvesting device utilizes a humidity. In this research, device and their efficacy in and technological constrain from an AWG as productio	ators (AWG) extract water from the air sorption, and fog harvesting. A refrige st in conditions above 60% relative hu ter vapor from the air and works in ve mesh to capture the water vapor from analyze two refrigeration-based devic providing supplemental water supply. hts, not all regions in the world would so n is driven by high relative humidity ar	using eratio midit ry low n the ces ar Due see th nd ter	one of three available on device works like a y. A sorption device utilizes a v humidity levels. A fog air and requires 100% relative of one sorption-based to climatological ne same water production onperature. This climatological	

reliance also subjects them to dramatic changes in performance depending on the season. By using previously established hydrologic performance indicators and weather data for the United States, I determine the year-round efficiency metrics of the typical residential-sized refrigeration AWG. Using these efficiency metrics, I also determined the reliability, resiliency, and vulnerability of the AWG to produce potable water seasonally across the United States. By evaluating several different devices and mapping the efficiency on the country-scale, this research determines the regional efficacy in adopting AWG technology to supplement potable water supply. This study was the first to look at the performance of atmospheric water generators with such granularity, as well as comparing specific devices predicted water production output to each other and over the years and calculating their Hashimoto's hydrological indicators.

15. SUBJECT TERMS

Atmospheric Water Generator, reliability, resiliency, vulnerability, hydrological indicators, sorption, fog harvesting, refrigeration, efficiency, spatial analysis

16. SECURITY CLASSIFICATION OF:		17. LIMITATION18.OFNUMBER	19a. NAME OF RESPONSIBLE PERSON Christopher M. Chini, AFIT/ENV		
a. REPORT	b. ABSTRACT	c. THIS PAGE	ABSTRACT	OF PAGES	19b. TELEPHONE NUMBER (Include area code) (937) 255-6565, ext 4568 (NOT DSN)
U	U	U		0/	(Christopher.chini@afit.edu)

Standard Form 298 (Rev. 8-98) Prescribed by ANSI Std. Z39-18